











Assessment of climate change policies as part of the European Semester

Country Report Greece

26 January 2015

A report submitted by ICF Consulting Services in association with

Ecologic Institute, Berlin and eclareon GmbH to DG Climate Action

ICF Consulting Limited

Watling House 33 Cannon Street London EC4M 5SB T +44 (0)20 3096 4800 F +44 (0)20 3368 6960

www.icfi.com

Document Control

Document Title	Assessment of climate change policies as part of the European Semester: Country Report Greece
Job No.	30300170
Prepared by	Georgios Maroulis, eclareon GmbH
Checked by	Martine Sobey, ICF International
Date	26 January 2015
First point of contact	Lena Ruthner, ICF International
	Watling House
	33 Cannon Street
	London
	EC4M 5SB
	Lena.Ruthner@icfi.com

This final draft report (the "Report") has been prepared by ICF Consulting Ltd ("ICF") and its subcontractors for DG Climate Action (the "Client") and does not necessarily represent the Commission's view. The Report is based on the data which was publicly available at the time of its delivery by ICF and ICF shall not be held liable for any change, update or any other alterations of this data after delivery.

The report is building on the country reports and other documents prepared by Ecologic Institute and eclareon for the Directorate General for Climate Action (DG CLIMA) under Service Contract: 071201/2012/635684/SER/CLIMA.A.3.

This report is the copyright of the Client. The contents of this Report may not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor passed to any other organisation or person without the specific prior written permission of the Client.

ICF and its subcontractors have used reasonable skill and care in checking the accuracy and completeness of information supplied by the Client or third parties in the course of this project under which the Report was produced. ICF is however unable to warrant either the accuracy or completeness of such information supplied by the Client or third parties, nor that it is fit for any purpose. ICF does not accept responsibility for any legal, commercial or other consequences that may arise directly or indirectly as a result of the use by ICF of inaccurate or incomplete information supplied by the Client or third parties in the course of this project or its inclusion in this report.

Contents

Docun	nent Control	ii
1	Short Summary	1
2	Climate and energy policy priorities	
3	GHG trends and projections	
4	Policy development	
4.1	Key policies as outlined in the National Reform Programme	
4.2	National policy priorities	
4.2.1	Environmental Taxation	4
4.2.2	Energy Efficiency	
4.2.3	Renewable Energy	
4.2.4	Transport	
4.2.5	Energy Networks	7
5	Policy progress against Country Specific Recommendations (CSRs) issued 2013	8
Refere	ences	9

1 Short Summary

Greece is characterised by a downwards trend as far as GHG emissions are concerned, mainly due to the slow rates of growth caused by the economic recession. No new policy developments as far as climate policy is concerned can be observed and GHG reductions are caused by the minimisation of economic activity.

The Greek non-ETS target under the Effort Sharing Decision (ESD) is -4% (compared to 2005) and non-ETS emissions were reduced by 20 % between 2005 and 2013, exceeding the interim target. According to the latest national projections submitted to the Commission and taking into account existing measures, the 2020 target is expected to be met by a margin of 1% points.

The key policy developments in the last year include radical changes in energy taxation with the introduction of a "security of supply" on natural gas and with the reduction of excise duty on heating oil. As far as renewable energy is concerned, the so- called "New Deal on RES" was put into force, resolving the uncertainty that has plagued the renewable energy sector in the previous years along with the introduction of a net metering support scheme. In relation to energy efficiency, there have been efforts for the continuation of successful energy upgrading programmes ("Exsoikonomo" and Exsoikonomo kat' oikon"). As far as the transport sector is concerned, the biofuel quota scheme has followed for the first time the process described in the amendment of Law No.3054/2012 along with a public consultation on the deployment of electric vehicles. Other policy developments concern the continuation of energy networks with the acceleration of projects concerning the interconnection of non-interconnected islands to the continental grid.

2 Climate and energy policy priorities

As far as GHG emissions are concerned, these increased by 3.7% (111 Mt CO₂) in 2012 compared to the base year (1990) (European Commission, 2014). There has been a downwards trend in GHG emissions trajectory since in 2011 as a result of the economic recession and the Eurozone crisis, which has had grave effects on Greece's economy., More specifically, Greece emitted 118.5 Mt CO₂eq (EEA 2012c), 13% more than in 1990, while this upwards trend was higher until 2010.

Concerning climate policies there has been no climate action plan in place and it is not yet known if published specific action will be developed.

In Greece, primary energy production in 2012 amounted to 10,437 ktoe and mainly comes from fossil fuels, mainly lignite (8,136 ktoe- nearly 77%). Net imports amounted to 19,979 ktoe in 2012, mainly due to the import of crude oil and other hydrocarbons (23,023 ktoe) and consequently energy dependence is 66.6% (Eurostat, 2014; Eurostat, tsdcc310).Natural gas shows a steady increase (EEA, 2014a) in the primary energy production (3,662 ktoe) with renewable energy following (2,462 ktoe) (Eurostat, 2014). The share of renewable energy in gross final energy consumption is constantly increasing reaching 13.8% mainly due to wind and solar power (EEA, 2014a).

In April 2012, the Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change proposed a renewable energy roadmap for 2050 (YПЕКА, 2012c). The different scenarios outlined in the draft suggest that more ambitious policies are necessary to reduce emissions by 80% in 2050, as agreed at EU level. However, this roadmap can be seen as outdated as the latest developments on the Greek energy sector, mainly due to the reforms of the renewable energy sector ("New Deal on RES") require an update of that roadmap.

3 GHG trends and projections

Greece reduced its total GHG emissions by 20% between 2005 and 2013. The share of GHG emissions not covered by the European Emission Trading Scheme (EU ETS) is around 46%, which is below the EU28 average (see Table 1).¹

Table 1 Key data on GHG emissions

		National data			EU28	
		2005	2011	2012	2013	2013
Total GHG emissions	Mt CO₂eq	135.3	114.7	111.0	107.8	4 539
Non-ETS emissions	Share in total emissions	47%	49%	45%	46%	58%

Source: EEA 2014a; EEA 2014c

By 2020, Greece needs to reduce its emissions not covered by the EU ETS by 4% compared to 2005, according to the ESD. The latest data for 2013 show that Greece not only met but exceeded its annual allocation interim target under the ESD for the year 2013 by a wide margin of 12.4 percentage points (see figures in Table 2). National projections indicate that the country will still exceed its 2020 target by about 1.0 percentage points with existing measures (WEM) and by about 4.2 percentage points with additional measures (WAM) (EEA 2014a).

Table 2 Non-ETS emission targets, trend and projections

		Compared to base year
2013	ESD interim target	- 7.6%
	ESD emissions	- 20.0%
2020	ESD target	- 4.0%
	ESD projections WEM	- 5.0%
	ESD projections WAM	- 8.2%

Source: EEA 2014a. Green indicates target met or exceeded, orange indicates a value below.

GHG emissions are mainly created by the energy industries, followed by direct fuel consumption (e.g. households for heat generation) and the transport sector (see figure below for historic and estimated emissions by sector). Projections indicate that by 2020 emissions from energy use will be relatively constant. Emissions from the energy industry are projected to continue to decrease sharply until 2015 after which they appear to stabilise. Emissions from transport are projected to decrease until 2015, but increase until 2020 to a level comparable to emissions from 2009.

¹ The European Environment Agency has developed a complex methodology to measure progress on the Non-ETS/ESD targets of all EU Member States. This report uses the figures derived on this basis. A detailed explanation and the underlying absolute amounts are contained in Annexes 1-3 of the EEA report No 6/2014 "Trends and projections in Europe 2014. Tracking progress towards Europe's climate and energy targets for 2020" available at http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/trends-and-projections-in-europe-2014/

70 60 Mt CO₂ equivalent 50 40 **Energy supply** 30 **Energy use** Transport 20 Industrial proc. Agriculture 10 Waste Int'l aviation 0 LULUCF 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 1995 -10

Table 3 GHG trends and projections by sector

Source: EEA 2014a. Actual data until 2012 and projections from 2010 onwards. Dashed lines indicate the WEM projection, dotted lines the WAM projection.

4 Policy development

This section covers significant developments made in key policy areas between January and December 2014. It does so through three different perspectives: 1) progress on the policies communicated under the National Reform Programme 2) developments in the identified national priority sectors and policy areas.

4.1 Key policies as outlined in the National Reform Programme

Member States prepare National Reform Programmes (NRPs) each April outlining the country's progress and the key policies and measures to achieve targets under the EU 2020 Strategy.

Table 4 Key policies and measures as outlined by the NRP 2014

Financing of energy saving interventions in public buildings and residences		
Status in the NRP	With the introduction of Law No.4122/2013 (Buildings' energy efficiency) along with other programmes (Exsoikono and Exsoikonomisi kat' oikon) the energy upgrading of approximately 30,000 households and public sector buildings in 150 municipalities have been realised	
Status as per Dec 2014	Expected	
Description of policy	See Chapter 4.2.2	

Reform of RES support account	
Status in the NRP	A number of amendments to the RES Law (Law No.3468/2006) has been put into force so as stabilise and contain the deficit account of RES
Status as per Dec 2014	Implemented
Description of policy	See Chapter 4.2.3

Upgrade of electricity distribution network incorporating digital technology		
Status in the NRP	The specific is expected to be realised through the replacement of the 80% of old meters with smart meters by 2020. The process has been described the FEK B/297/2013	
Status as per Dec 2014	Expected	
Description of policy	HEDNO (the Hellenic Distribution Network Operator) is currently carrying out an investment plan worth over 1.5 billion euros to upgrade the country's electricity distribution infrastructure. This includes the installation of new digital electricity meters, starting with the pilot installation of 200,000 meters (total budget 86.5 million EUR). The operator has announced an international tender for supply and installation of the meters and the deadline for proposal submission is 30 Jan 2015 (Ekathimerini, 2014; HEDNO, 2014)	

Expansion of electricity transmission system on islands		
Status in the NRP	Included in the Ten Year Development Plan, a first tender on the expansion of electricity transmission system on islands has been issued. The main objective is the interconnection of non- interconnected islands with the continental grid.	
Status as per Dec 2014	In force	
Description of policy	See Chapter 4.2.5	

4.2 National policy priorities

The below sub-sections provide updates on key existing and new policies in priority sectors and policy areas of relevance to the energy and climate targets under the Europe 2020 strategy². Each sector or policy area contains information on the most important policy instruments in operation or development.

4.2.1 Environmental Taxation

In Greece the implicit tax rate on energy is the sixth highest in the EU with EUR 186 per ton of oil equivalent in 2012 (Eurostat, tsdcc360). Furthermore, the share of environmental tax revenues in overall tax revenue was 8.5% in 2012 and therefore above the EU average of 6.1% (Eurostat, ten00064). The same holds true for a comparison of environmental tax revenues with GDP, which amounted to 2.9% in 2012 (with the average at 2.4%) (Eurostat, ten00065).

In October 2014, a 30% reduction of the excise duty on heating oil was imposed³. More specifically, the 30% reduction, applicable from 15 Oct 2014 until 30 Apr 2015, will decrease the excise duty from 330 EUR/1,000 I to 230 EUR/1,000 I (Naftemporiki, 2014). According to the Report of the Greek General Accounting Office the reduction will cause a revenue loss of 133.58 million EUR (108.6 million EUR) from the excise duty and 24.98 million EUR from the VAT). However, the tax reduction will possibly result in the increase of heating oil consumption. An increase of 43.5% of heating oil consumption would balance the estimated revenue loss (Avgi, 2014).

Additionally, in June 2014, the Regulatory Authority on Energy (RAE) decided to introduce a "security supply levy" on natural gas for end-consumers which was implemented in October 2014. The levy was foreseen by Law No.4001/2011 (Operation of Electricity and Gas Energy Markets, for Exploration, Production and Transmission networks of Hydrocarbons). RAE's decision defines the cost per unit for

The Consortium jointly with DG Clima identified these based on identified challenges in Country Profiles (EEA, 2014), share of sectors in total GHG emissions, and Country Specific Recommendations (2014). DG Clima has identified additional relevant issues to be reviewed for some or all Member States, including country specific energy challenges.

³ In 2012, a uniform tax on diesel and heating oil was imposed (330 EUR/1,000 I) thus raising the tax on heating oil by around 450% at that time. This has led to a 70% decrease in sales of heating oil.

each category (electricity producers, industry and domestic users), varying between 0.16 EUR/ MWh for electricity producers to 0.46 EUR/ MWh for domestic consumers, as well as the aggregate sum needed (RAE, 2014a).

With the approval of the "New Deal on RES" (see Chapter 4.2.3) a drastic increase of the Special Levy for the Reduction of GHGs (ETMEAP)⁴ that was foreseen by the RAE was prevented. RAE had initially decided (Decision No.663/2013) that the ETMEAP should increase an average of 97%, from 14.96 EUR/MWh to 29.5 EUR /MWh. For domestic consumers the increase would have been approximately 90%, from 20.8 EUR/MWh to 38.61 EUR/MWh. However, after the approval of the "New Deal" the increase will be significantly lower (Decision No.175/2014) and will amount on average to 19.73 EUR /MWh. For domestic consumers the ETMEAP will be increased to 26.3 EUR /MWh (RAE, 2014b).

4.2.2 Energy Efficiency

Within the EU28, Greece lies in the middle range (14th place) but has an above average energy-intensive economy. Energy intensity increased by 2% from 2005 to 2012. Greece is therefore the only EU MS that did not improve its energy efficiency (Eurostat, tsdec360). In contrast, the final energy consumption dropped by 18% between 2005 and 2012 with the reductions coming from all sectors, except the service sector (Eurostat, tsdpc320). Greece is currently on track towards its indicative EU energy efficiency target, mainly due to the economic recession (EEA 2014a).

Two successful programmes concerning energy efficiency upgrading of buildings have been further implemented in 2014. The first one is Exsoikonomo II which is a programme co-funded by the European Structural Funds and aims to support local authorities in their efforts to upgrade the energy performance of their buildings and infrastructure, including schools and public administration buildings. By Nov 2014, 63 projects had been approved, with an estimated budget of 51.7 million EUR (Energypress, 2014a). Energy upgrading of public buildings has been foreseen for the new Programming Period 2014-2020 with an estimated budget of 220 million EUR (MEEC, 2014b).

The second programme is "Exsoikonomo kat' oikon". The Programme aims at improving the energy performance and efficiency of residential buildings through the provision of interest-free loans and subsidies for the installation of RES and energy-saving measures and has a budget of €396 million. Already at the beginning of 2014, the Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change (MEEC) requested the support of DG Energy so that the Programme can be added to the new Operational Programmes for the Programming Period 2014-2020 that will be submitted to DG Regio. More specifically, the estimated budget was not sufficient to finance all submitted applications (187,000 in total) (MEEC, 2014a). In Apr 2014, the continuation of the "Exsoikonomo kat' oikon" was announced with the budget of 700 million EUR while further 200 million EUR will be distributed for energy savings in commercial buildings and 250 EUR million in public buildings (Econews, 2014a). However, an additional 8 million EUR will be given for the finalisation of the "Exsoikonomo kat' oikon" of the previous Programming Period (approval of the already submitted applications) (Econews, 2014b)

All in all, energy efficiency programmes for the next Programmatic Period 2014- 2020 are estimated to create 15,000 new jobs on the building sector and realising energy savings between 35% to 40% (YPEKA, 2014b).

Apart from that, in Sep 2014, the Ministry of Environment, Energy and Climate Change (MEEC) has initiated the public consultation on the Energy Efficiency Bill, transposing the Energy Efficiency Directive (Directive 2012/27/EU). The bill includes the adoption of national indicative targets for energy efficiency and sets out measures, included in the National Energy Efficiency Action Plan, for their achievement (MEEC, 2014c).

4.2.3 Renewable Energy

The share of renewables in gross final energy consumption was 13.8% in 2012, which is above the indicative 2012 target of 9.1% set out by the Renewable Energy Directive (RED). The average annual

⁴ ETMEAP is a special levy imposed on all electricity consumers and is paid as part of customers' electricity bills. The revenues from the levy go to the Special Account for RES, which is then used to finance RES support schemes.

growth rate was 6.5% between 2005 and 2012. Thus, an annual growth rate of 9.5% is needed between 2013 and 2020 to reach the 2020 target of 18% (EEA 2014a). The share of renewable electricity generation in final electricity consumption almost doubled from 8.3% to 16.5% between 2005 and 2012, mainly due to wind and solar power after 2010. In addition, the share of renewable heating also almost doubled from 12.8% to 24.4% (Eurostat, SHARES 2014).

After lengthy discussions the so- called "New Deal on RES" was finally approved in Apr 2014. Law No. 4254/2013 contains amendment of the RES Law (Law No. 3468/2006). More specifically the provisions foresaw a review of the feed-in tariffs in place, a retroactive reduction of the feed-in tariffs of 2013 along with a 5 year extension of the purchase agreement for all renewable energy plans plants operating for less than 12 years.

A further amendment of the RES Law entered into force in Sep 2014 and it concerned the following provisions concerning the imposition of a maximum installed capacity on PV installations, priority concerning the connection offer to biomass and biogas plants, operated by certain public administration authorities as well as the extension of the obligation of renewable energy producers to submit a letter of guarantee

In addition, Law No. 4254/2013 foresaw the introduction of a "net metering scheme" by the end of Jun 2014 with the issues of Ministerial Decree. However, RAE finally announced the results of the second public consultation on net metering and its opinion on the introduction of net metering scheme in Oct 2014 (RAE, 2014c). The opinion describes the structure of the Ministerial Decree and specifies the technical provisions concerning the operation of the net metering scheme. Finally, the Ministerial Decree was finally signed on 31 Dec 2014 (Econews, 2014c).

The "New Deal on RES" was welcomed from all RES-related stakeholders, despite the fact some of them were more affected by provisions of the new regulations (Keep on Track, 2014). In addition, the uncertainty before the "New Deal on RES" had further grave consequences on the economic sustainability of RES investments, as revenue risk under the existing support scheme was apparent, with the Greek Electricity Market Operator (LAGIE) remunerating RES investors with a six month delay (Keep on Track, 2014). Surely, the situation was further aggravated by the existing financial situation in Greece that could not finance RES projects (Keep on Track, 2014).

4.2.4 Transport

GHG emissions, as well as energy consumption from transport, have increased between 1990 and 2012 but decreased since 2009. Also, the proportion of transport emissions among Greece's total emissions increased through 2010 but decreased afterwards to reach 14% in 2012. Average emissions for newly registered cars are very low in Greece with a level of 111.9 g CO₂/km. This value is the second lowest in the EU and decreased by 33% between 2005 and 2013, at a greater rate than the average EU reduction of 22% (Eurostat, tsdtr450). Fuel taxation in Greece differs greatly between fuels. While the road fuel excise duties on petrol are the fourth highest among EU MS, the excise duties on diesel are the second lowest (EEA 2014b).

Greece's vehicle taxes are only partly based on CO₂ emissions. The ownership tax is based on CO₂ emissions if registered after 2011 (ACEA 2014). A rather low road toll exists for certain parts of Greece's road network (CE Delft 2012).

The Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change has issued Ministerial Decree in Aug 2014 on the distribution of 133,000 kiloliters of biofuels for 2014 (MEEC, 2014d). Interestingly, the Ministry has already announced an invitation to interested legal persons to apply for the distribution of 140,000 kiloliters of biofuels for 2015 (MEEC, 2014e). This is the first time that the process of biofuel quota distribution follows the timeline stipulated by the amendment of Law No. 3054/2002 (RES Legal, 2014).

Apart from that, the Regulatory Authority on Energy (RAE) initiated in 5 Feb 2014 a public consultation on the definition of the institutional and operational framework for the integration of electric vehicle charging infrastructure in the Greek market with 13 natural persons and legal entities participating in the process (RAE, 2014d).

4.2.5 Energy Networks

On 10 Sep 2014, the Greek TSO (Independent Power Transmission Operator- IPTO/ADMIE) signed with the contractors the agreements for the first phase of the Interconnection of the Cyclades islands with the continental grid. The first phase foresees the interconnection of the biggest islands i.e. Syros, Tinos, Mykonos and Paros with the continental electricity grid. The first phase is expected to last approximately 22 months and has a budget of € 240 million. It should be noted that the budget is € 160 million less than the first tender, which was cancelled (IPTO/ADMIE, 2014a).

In addition, in July 2014, 12 interconnection projects have been characterised as "fast-track" projects. Under the current legislative framework i.e. Law No.3894/2010 and Law No.4146/2013, these strategic investments benefit from a favourable legal framework that enables the rapid realisation of such projects. All 12 interconnection projects have already been classified as Projects of Common Interest (PCIs). The projects include interconnections of Greek islands with the main electricity grid, as well as electricity and gas interconnections with other countries, such as an interconnection with the Transadriatic Pipeline (TAP) or an interconnection with Cyprus. It is estimated that these investments could create up to 17,000 new jobs (Energypress, 2014b).

Finally, on 9 May 2014, the first tender for the privatization of 66 % of the capital stock of the Greek TSO (Independent Power Transmission Operator- IPTO/ADMIE) has been completed. Five non-binding offers have been submitted to the Hellenic Republic Asset Development Fund ($TAI\PiE\Delta$), coming from the European companies Elia and Terna, from the China State Grid, the India Power Corporation and a Canadian Investment Fund (PSP Investments). After evaluation, the successful bidders of the first round – being announced end of May 2014 - will be invited to submit a final and binding offer in a second phase (Energypress, 2014c) that is still on hold.

Policy progress against Country Specific Recommendations (CSRs) issued 2013

The EU Commission provides Country Specific Recommendations (CSRs) for each MS for consideration and endorsement by the European Council. The recommendations are designed to address the major challenges in relation to the targets of the EU 2020 Strategy. In the following table, the CSRs relevant for climate change and energy are listed, and their progress towards their implementation is assessed.

For Greece no CSRs have been issued in the climate and energy area.

References

- ACEA (European Automobile Manufacturer's Association), 2014. Taxation Guide. Online available at: http://www.acea.be/uploads/publications/CO 2 Tax overview 2014.pdf,
- Avgi, 2014. Submission of the amendment for the reduction the excise duty on heating oil- Αυγή, 2014. Κατατέθηκε η τροπολογία για μείωση ΕΦΚ στο πετρέλαιο θέρμανσης. Online available at: http://www.avgi.gr/article/4128130/katatethike-i-tropologia-gia-meiosi-efk-sto-petrelaio-thermansis [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- CE Delft, 2012. An inventory of measures for internalizing external costs in transport. Final Report. November 2012. Online available at: www.cedelft.eu/publicatie/an_inventory_of_measures_for_internalising_external_costs_in_transport/1334
- Econews, 2014a. The "Exsoikonomo kat' oikon" in the new National Reference Strategic Framework with € 700 million. Additional € 250 million for RES- Econews, 2014a. To "Εξοικονομώ κατ' οίκον" στο νέο ΕΣΠΑ με €700 εκ. Ακόμα €250 εκ. στις ΑΠΕ. Online available at: http://www.econews.gr/2014/04/10/exoikonomo-espa-114044/ [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Econews, 2014b. "Exsoikonomo kat' oikon" further financing of 8million EUR was signed- Econews, 2014b. Online available at: http://www.econews.gr/2014/08/11/exoikonomo-kat-oikon-116888/ [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Econews, 2014c. PV: Net-metering Ministerial Decree is signed- Details- Econews, 2014γ. Φωτοβολταϊκά: υπεγράφη το net-metering – Αναλυτικά η ρύθμιση. Online available: http://www.econews.gr/2014/12/31/fotovoltaika-net-metering-119722/ [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- EEA, 2014a. Climate and energy profiles 2014. Online available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/climate/ghg-country-profiles
- EEA, 2014b. Road fuel excise duties. Online available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/daviz/road-fuel-excise-duties#tab-chart 1;
- EEA, 2014c. Approximated EU GHG inventory: Proxy GHG emission estimates for 2013. EEA Technical report No 16/2014. 30 Sep 2014.
- EEA, 2012c: Greenhouse gas emission trends and projections in Europe 2012 Tracking progress towards Kyoto and 2020 targets. EEA Report No 6/2012. Online available: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/ghg-trends-and-projections-2012 [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Ekathimerini, 2014. End of October the Tender for the installation of smart meters- Καθημερινή, 2014. Τέλη Οκτωβρίου ο διαγωνισμός του ΔΕΔΔΗΕ για την εγκατάσταση έξυπνων μετρητών. Online available at: http://www.kathimerini.gr/782300/article/epikairothta/ellada/telh-oktwvrioy-odiagwnismos-toy-deddhe-gia-thn-egkatastash-e3ypnwn-metrhtwn [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Energypress, 2014a. "Exsoikonomo". Contractualisation of 63 projects totalling 51.7 million EUR-Energypress, 2014a. «Εξοικονομώ»: Συμβασιοποιούνται 63 έργα, συνολικού ύψους 51,7 εκατ. Ευρώ. Online available at: http://www.energypress.gr/news/Symbasiopoioyntai-63-erga-sto-plaisio-toy-Exoikonomw [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Energypress, 2014b. 12 energy interconnections projects of 7 billion Eur characterised as "fast track"-Energypress, 2014β. Σε fast track μπαίνουν 12 ενεργειακές διασυνδέσεις ύψους 7 δισ. Ευρώ. Online available at: http://www.energypress.gr/news/Se-fast-track-mpainoyn-12-energeiakes-ependyseis-ypsoys-7-dis.-eyrw [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Energypress, 2014c. At the end of May the list with the successful bidders the second phase of IPTO privatisation Extension for revenue from RAE- Energypress, 2014γ. Τέλη Μαΐου η λίστα όσων περνούν στη β' φάση για ΑΔΜΗΕ Παράταση για το έσοδο από PAE. Online available at: http://www.energypress.gr/news/admie/Telh-Maioy-h-lista-oswn-pernoyn-sth-b-fash-gia-ADMHE-Paratash-gia-to-esodo-apo-RAE [Accessed 15 January 2015]

European Commission, 2014. Progress towards achieving the Kyoto and EU 2020 objectives, October 2014. Online available at: http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/g-qas/docs/kyoto_progress_2014_en.pdf [Accessed 15 January 2015]

Eurostat, SHARES 2014, Short Assessment of Renewable Energy Sources

Eurostat, ten00065: Total environmental tax revenues as a share of GDP

Eurostat, tsdcc210: Greenhouse gas emissions by sector

Eurostat, tsdcc360: Implicit tax rate on energy

Eurostat, tsdec360: Energy intensity of the economy

Eurostat, tsdpc320: Final energy consumption by sector

Eurostat, tsdtr450: Average carbon dioxide emissions per km from new passenger cars

Eurostat, tsdcc310: Energy dependence

Eurostat, 2014. Energy balance sheets 2011-2012, 2014 edition. Online available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/3217494/5785109/KS-EN-14-001-EN.PDF/16c0ac97-7dd6-4694-b22d-e77a36cb4e86?version=1.0 [Accessed 15 January 2015]

- HEDNO, 2014. Tender No.DD207. Pilot Programming on Telemetering and Management System of Electricity Supply Demand for Domestic and Small Commercial Consumers and Implementation of Smart Networks"- ΔΕΔΔΗΕ (Διαχειριστής του Ελληνικού Δικτύου Διανομής Ηλεκτρικής Ενέργειας), 2014. Διακήρυξη Δημοπρασίας με αριθμό ΔΔ-207. Έργο «Πιλοτικό Σύστημα Τηλεμέτρησης και Διαχείρισης της Ζήτησης Παροχών Ηλεκτρικής Ενέργειας Οικιακών και Μικρών Εμπορικών Καταναλωτών και Εφαρμογής Έξυπνων Δικτύων». Online available at: http://www.deddie.gr/Documents2/DIAKIRIXEIS%202014/DD%20207%20SYMPLIROMA%20No3/%CE%A4%CE%B5%CF%8D%CF%87%CE%BF%CF%82%20%CE%91%20%CE%A0%CF%81%CF%8C%CF%83%CE%BA%CE%BB%CE%B7%CF%83%CE%B7.pdf [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- IPTO/ADMIE, 2014a. Signing of contracts for the electrical interconnection of Cyclades with the Continental Transmission System. Ανεξάρτητος Διαχειριστής Μεταφοράς Ηλεκτρικής Ενέργειας (ΑΔΜΗΕ), 2014α. Υπογραφή συμβάσεων για την ηλεκτρική διασύνδεση των Κυκλάδων με το Ηπειρωτικό Σύστημα. Online available at: http://www.admie.gr/anakoinoseis/deltia-typoy/article/1581/ [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Keep on Track, 2014. Analysis of Deviations and Barriers 2013/2014. Online available at: http://www.keepontrack.eu/contents/publicationsanalysisdeviationsbarriers/kot_deviations-and-barriers-report-2014.pdf [Accessed 12 January 2015]
- MEEC (Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change), 2014a. Letter of the MEEC Minister, Yannis Maniatis, to the Energy Commissioner, Günther Oettinger for the program "Exsoikonomo kat' oikon"- ΥΠΕΚΑ (Υπουργείο Ενεργειας, Περιβάλλοντος και Κλιματικής Αλλαγής), 2014α. Επιστολή Υπουργού ΠΕΚΑ, Γιάννη Μανιάτη, στον Επίτροπο, Günther Oettinger, για το Πρόγραμμα «Εξοικονομώ κατ' Οίκον». Online available at: http://www.ypeka.gr/Default.aspx?tabid=389&sni[524]=3000&language=el-GR [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- MEEC (Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change), 2014b. Ioannis Maniatis: "We invest 220 million. Euro for energy upgrading of public buildings"- ΥΠΕΚΑ (Υπουργείο Ενεργειας, Περιβάλλοντος και Κλιματικής Αλλαγής), 2014β. Γιάννης Μανιάτης: «Επενδύουμε 220 εκατ. Ευρώ για την ενεργειακή αναβάθμιση των δημοσίων κτιρίων». Online available at: http://www.ypeka.gr/Default.aspx?tabid=389&sni[524]=3362&language=el-GR [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- MEEC (Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change), 2014c. Public Consultation on draft bill on the harmonization of national legislation with Directive 2012/27/ EU on energy efficiency-ΥΠΕΚΑ (Υπουργείο Ενεργειας, Περιβάλλοντος και Κλιματικής Αλλαγής), 2014γ. Δημόσια διαβούλευση σχεδίου νόμου για την εναρμόνιση της εθνικής νομοθεσίας με την Οδηγία

- 2012/27/ΕΕ για την ενεργειακή απόδοση. Online available at: http://www.ypeka.gr/Default.aspx?tabid=389&sni[524]=3311&language=el-GR [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- MEEC (Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change), 2014d. 2014 Distribution of 133,000 kiloliters of biodiesel in accordance with the provisions of Article 15A of Law No. 3054/2002, as it was amended- ΥΠΕΚΑ (Υπουργείο Ενεργειας, Περιβάλλοντος και Κλιματικής Αλλαγής), 2014δ. Κατανομή έτους 2014 ποσότητας 133.000 χιλιολίτρων αυτούσιου βιοντίζελ, σύμφωνα με τις διατάξεις του άρθρου 15A παρ. 7 του ν. 3054/2002, όπως ισχύει. Online available at: http://www.ypeka.gr/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=%2fKE9vvHyGvA%3d&tabid=292&language=el-GR
- MEEC (Ministry of Energy, Environment and Climate Change), 2014e. Invitation to participate in the allocation of 140,000 kiloliters of biodiesel for the year 2015- ΥΠΕΚΑ (Υπουργείο Ενεργειας, Περιβάλλοντος και Κλιματικής Αλλαγής), 2014ε. Πρόσκληση για συμμετοχή στην κατανομή έτους 2015 ποσότητας 140.000 χιλιολίτρων αυτούσιου βιοντίζελ, σύμφωνα με τις διατάξεις της παρ. 4^α του άρθρου 15A του N. 3054/2002. Online available at: http://www.ypeka.gr/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=VPB0JhRqCuA%3d&tabid=292&language=el-GR [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- MEEC (Ministry of Environment, Energy and Climate Change), 2012. Greek Energy Roadmap to 2050 (Executive Summary in English). ΥΠΕΚΑ (Υπουργείο Ενεργειας, Περιβάλλοντος και Κλιματικής Αλλαγής, 2012. Εθνικός Ενεργειακός Σχεδιασμός. Οδικός χάρτης για το 2050. Available online: http://www.opengov.gr/minenv/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2012/04/energeiakos-sxediasmos.pdf [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- MStR Law, 2014. The Bill of the Ministry of Environment Energy & Climate Change (YPEKA) on New Deal with the producers from RES and Cogeneration stations. Online available at: http://www.mstr-law.gr/media/documents/2014/03/10/NewDeal_EN.pdf [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- Naftemporiki, 2014. 30% reduction in excise duty on heating oil- Ναυτεμπορική, 2014. Μείωση 30% του Ειδικού Φόρου Κατανάλωσης στο πετρέλαιο θέρμανσης. Online available at: http://www.naftemporiki.gr/finance/story/859656/meiosi-30-tou-eidikou-forou-katanalosis-sto-petrelaio-thermansis [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- RAE (Regulatory Authority on Energy), 2014a. Conclusions of RAE's public consultation for the security of supply levy and the necessary implementing provisions for the country's supply security issues with natural gas- PAE (Ρυθμιστική Αρχή Ενέργειας), 2014α. Συμπεράσματα της ρυθμιστικής Αρχής Ενέργειας από τη δημόσια διαβούλευση για το τέλος ασφάλειας εφοδιασμού και τις αναγκαίες εφαρμοστικές διατάξεις για θέματα ασφάλειας εφοδιασμού της χώρας με φυσικό αέριο. Online available at: http://www.rae.gr/site/file/system/docs/misc1/20102011/10072013 [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- RAE (Regulatory Authority on Energy), 2014b. RAE Decision no.175/2014 on 04.01.2014 on the numerical values of the allocation methodology coefficients of Special Levy for the Reduction of GHGs (ETMEAP) foreseen by Art.43 Par. 2c of Law No. 4001/2011, as amended- PAE (Ρυθμιστική Αρχή Ενέργειας), 2014β. Απόφαση PAE υπ' αριθμ. 175/2014 σχετικά με τις από 1.4.2014 αριθμητικές τιμές των συντελεστών της μεθοδολογίας επιμερισμού του Ειδικού Τέλους του άρθρου 143 παρ. 2 περ. γ' του ν. 4001/2011, όπως ισχύει. Online available at: http://www.rae.gr/site/categories new/about rae/factsheets/2014/major/03042014.csp [Accessed 15 January 2015]
- RAE (Regulatory Authority on Energy), 2014c.Opinion on the issue of a Ministerial Decree concerning the installation of RES by autoproducers under a net metering scheme. PAE (Ρυθμιστική Αρχή Ενέργειας), 2014γ. Γνωμοδότηση PAE για την έκδοση Υπουργικής απόφασης για την εγκατάσταση μονάδων ΑΠΕ από αυτοπαραγωγούς με συμψηφισμό ενέργειας σε εφαρμογή του άρθρου 14A του v.3468/2006. Online available at:

 http://www.rae.gr/site/categories_new/about_rae/actions/aknowledge/2014_A0006.csp?viewMode=normal [Accessed 15 January 2015]

Specific contract No340203/2014/690694/SER/CLIMA.A.3 European Semester: Support on Climate related data and information Country Report Greece

RAE (Regulatory Authority on Energy), 2014d. Completion of the Public Consultation on the proposal of the RAE for the clarification and definition of the institutional and operational framework for the integration of electric vehicle charging infrastructure in Greece- PAE (Ρυθμιστική Αρχή Ενέργειας), 2014δ. Ολοκλήρωση της Δημόσιας Διαβούλευσης επί της πρότασης της PAE για την αποσαφήνιση και οριοθέτηση του θεσμικού και λειτουργικού πλαισίου ένταξης των υποδομών φόρτισης ηλεκτροκίνητων οχημάτων στην Ελλάδα. Online available at: http://www.rae.gr/categories_new/about_rae/activity/global_consultation/history_new/140314_Lix_050214.csp [Accessed 15 January 2015]

RES Legal, 2014. Legal sources on renewable energy- Greece. Online available at: http://www.res-legal.eu/search-by-country/greece/single/s/res-t/t/promotion/aid/biofuel-quota-law-no-30542002/lastp/139/ [Accessed 15 January 2015]